81,587

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

MAR 13 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Giller Deputy Clerk

MARIO LAVON JENNINGS,

Petitioner,

DCA CASE NO. 95-411

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Fla. S. Ct. NO.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHET KAUFMAN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLA. BAR NO. 814253
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is about the unconstitutionality of a criminal statute that enhances the punishment of certain offenses taking place during the time period vaguely defined as between "6 a.m. and 12 a.m." The decision below expressly declares valid section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), and rejects vagueness and lenity arguments expressly based on the due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions. This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision below. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i),(ii). Because this decision has statewide implications in approving unconstitutional convictions and sentences predicated on a vague and broadly construed statute, and because other circuit courts have reached a contrary decision on the same issue, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction and quash the judgment entered below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged with five counts in two informations. The counts relevant to this petition include one count of sale of a cocaine, and three counts of possession of cocaine with intent to sell or deliver. Each of these four charges allege that the acts took place "within 1000 feet of a school between the hours of 6:00 A.M. and 12 A.M." on two different dates in 1994. conduct for which petitioner was convicted occurred after noon but before midnight on both respective dates. 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), under which these charges were filed, enhances the second-degree felonies of sale and possession with intent to sell cocaine to first-degree felonies and imposes three-year minimum mandatory terms of imprisonment when the illegal conduct takes place "in, on, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle, or secondary school between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m."

Jennings moved to dismiss these penalty-enhancement charges on the grounds that the statute is unconstitutionally vague under the due process clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions; and even if not facially unconstitutional, the statute should be strictly construed under the rule of lenity. He argued that the term "12 a.m." is vague and imprecise, and has been the subject of varying interpretations. Therefore, the time period set forth in the statute is vague as to whether it applies

to crimes committed between 6 a.m. and noon or 6 a.m. and midnight. The trial court denied the motion. Jennings pled no contest to all charges in a plea agreement, expressly reserving his right to contest the trial court's decision to deny his motion to dismiss, which was dispositive.

On appeal, the petitioner made the same claims, arguing that section 893.13(1)(c) was unconstitutionally vague on its face and as applied, and even if constitutional, it should be narrowly construed in petitioner's favor under the rule of lenity. The arguments were expressly predicated on the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 9, and article II, section 3, of the Florida Constitution.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed with a written opinion. Jennings v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D264 (Fla. Jan. 26, 1996). (A copy is attached as Appendix A). The decision expressly rejected the argument that the statute should be struck down as vague, concluding "[w]e find no constitutional infirmity and affirm." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D264. The court's analysis rested in part on what it believed to be the legislature's intent based on "common understanding and practices." Id. The court then spent the second half of its opinion acknowledging that judicial and nonjudicial authorities have in fact given the term "12 a.m." varying interpretations, including numerous dictionaries, the U.S. Naval Observatory, and a New Jersey court. Id. at D264-65. The court also acknowledged that only one other

statute in Florida history, a 1945 statute, used the term "12 a.m." or "12 p.m." to define a period of time. <u>Id</u>. at D265. The court even suggested that the legislature amend the statute to clarify its meaning. <u>Id</u>. Nonetheless, the court upheld the validity of the statute.

Petitioner moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and certification of the issue. Petitioner maintained that the decision as to the constitutionality was wrong, but even if the statute was constitutional, the court overlooked the due process rule of lenity as argued in the trial court and in the initial brief. Petitioner also brought to the court's attention the fact that the 10th Circuit Court issued a decision directly conflicting with the First District's decision, dismissing a charge filed under section 893.13(1)(c). State v. O'Neal, No. CF95-0407AI-XX (Fla. 10th Cir. Ct., June 26, 1995). Nonetheless, the First District summarily rejected petitioner's motions. Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court clearly has jurisdiction, so the only issue is whether it should exercise that jurisdiction. It should because the issue has statewide importance and has resulted in conflict among the courts; the opinion on its face is self-contradictory; the statute on its face is unclear and ambiguous; this Court recently exercised discretionary jurisdiction to strike down a

closely related statute on the same grounds in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1994); and the statute should have been strictly construed pursuant to the constitutional obligation this Court imposed on district courts in <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991), but the district court refused to do so.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE
JURISDICTION TO REVIEW AND QUASH A DECISION
THAT UPHELD AND FAILED TO NARROWLY CONSTRUE
AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE CRIMINAL STATUTE
DESPITE ACKNOWLEDGING THAT IT IS AMBIGUOUS
AND SUBJECT TO VARIOUS INTERPRETATIONS, A
HOLDING THAT CONFLICTS WITH CIRCUIT COURT
DECISIONS RENDERED BOTH BEFORE AND AFTER THIS
DECISION WAS MADE

It is quite clear that this Court has jurisdiction to review the decision below because it expressly upholds the constitutionality of a statute and construes due process provisions of the Florida and United States Constitutions. The only real question is whether this Court should exercise its discretion. It should.

Two circuit courts have rejected the very rationale on which the First District relied, thereby demonstrating the issue has statewide importance, will continue to arise, and has generated conflict conflict among the courts. Circuit Judge Robert Young, who decided O'Neal in June 1995, pointed out, among other things, various case law references to the term "12 a.m." that demonstrate no uniformity in courts' understanding of the term. He concluded that because the term is "ambiguous to people of

common intelligence, the statute cannot withstand constitutional scrutiny." Id., slip op. at 3. (A copy of O'Neal is attached as appendix B.) Even after Jennings was decided, Circuit Judge Robert Doyel granted a defendant's motion to dismiss a charge filed under section 893.13(1)(c), expressly rejecting the First District's Jennings rationale. State v. Bonney, No. CF95-5030A2-XX (Fla. 10th Cir. Ct., Feb. 27, 1996). Ironically, Judge Doyel quoted the second half of Jennings to support his conclusion that the statute is unconstitutionally vague. Bonney, slip op. at 1-3. (A copy of Bonney is attached as appendix C.)

The district court's decision was wrong because the vagueness of the statute is apparent on its face, defining a critical provision that restricts liberty by use of a term that defies clear understanding and definition in dictionaries, law books, and through common usage. The lack of clarity also is demonstrated by the two conflicting halves of the district court's own majority decision, as noted by Bonney.

The present case is similar to <u>Brown v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1994), where this Court exercised discretionary jurisdiction to quash another First District decision and strike down a closely related statute, section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990). This Court held that the term "public housing authority" in a similar drug-related penalty enhancement statute was unconstitutionally vague in violation of article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution. This Court should review

the decision below because the same court made the same error that this Court found in Brown.

The district court's decision also failed to apply the rule of lenity that this Court described and applied in Perkins v.
State, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991) to narrowly construe a law that was ambiguous though not vague enough to be facially unconstitutional. This Court specifically held in Perkins that if a word or phrase in a statute is vague or ambiguous, "the district court was under an obligation to construe it in the manner most favorable to the accused. Art. I, § 9, Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const.; § 775.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1987)." 576 So. 2d at 1313. The First District here did not obey that command.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant the petition for review and quash the decision below.