# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Mario Lavon Jennings, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court. This brief will refer to Petitioner as such, as the Defendant, or by proper name. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee below; the brief will refer to Respondent as such, the prosecution, or the State.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of trial court proceedings. "JB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. Each symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

All bold-type emphasis is supplied, and all other emphasis is contained within the original quotations unless the contrary is indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent does not accept the statement of the case and facts provided by the Petitioner. The statement is an argumentative dissertation on the perceived justice of the Petitioner's cause, and is not the fair statement required by **Fla**. **R. App. P. 9.210.** See **Thompson v. State, 588 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1st** 

-1-

DCA 1991); Overfelt v. State, 434 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). The Respondent will rely on the following facts:

The Petitioner, Mario Jennings, was charged by Information with (I) Sale of Cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school; (II) Possession of Cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school; (III) Possession of Cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school with intent to sell or deliver; and (IV) Possession of Drug Paraphernalia. Counts I, II, and III alleged that the crimes occurred "between the hours of 6:00 A.M. and 12:00 A.M. on June 29, 1994." A second Information charged the Petitioner with another count of possession of cocaine with intent to sell, within 1,000 feet of a school, "between the hours of 6:00 A.M. and 12 A.M." on July 2, 1994." (R. 1-2; 110-111).

The Petitioner filed a pretrial motion to dismiss challenging the constitutionality of §893.13(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1993). The Petitioner eventually entered into a plea bargain, preserving the right to appeal the constitutional issue.

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Petitioner argued that the term "12 A.M." was unconstitutionally vague, and could be construed as meaning "noon" rather than "midnight." The District Court rejected this unnatural construction of the statute and legislative intent, stating:

- 2 -

In this way, the statute exhibits special concern that not be peddled to school controlled substances "In determining the intent of the children. Legislature, the courts must construe a statute in light of the purposes for which it was enacted and the evils it was intended to cure." Young v. St. Vincent's Medical Ctr.., Inc., 653 So.2d 499, 500 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). . . . We do not believe "common understanding and practices" lend support to the view the Legislature intended to provide a greater penalty for drug sales at morning recess than for sales during the lunch hour or We can think of little after school lets out. justification for such an interpretation of the statute. In context, it is clear that the term "12 a.m." in section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1993) must mean "midnight," by which time -- the Legislature had reason to hope -- school children will be at home fast asleep.

[slip opinion at p. 4].

The District Court went on to discuss other interpretations of the term "a.m." and concluded that the statute in question was constitutional as applied. This action ensued.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Relying upon the mantra "rule of lenity," the Petitioner applies a grossly unnatural and illogical construction to a Florida statute in an effort to contest its constitutionality. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should not grant discretionary review to consider such challenges to Florida Statutes simply because the argument, as rejected by the District Court, addressed the constitutionality of the challenged statute.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD GRANT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO CONSIDER A CHALLENGE TO THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF §893.13(1)(a), FLA. STAT. (1993).

The issue before this Honorable Court is whether discretionary review should be granted to review the First District Court of Appeal's rejection of a constitutional challenge to **\$893.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993)**. It is submitted that the absence of any logical challenge to the statute should preclude discretionary review.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review District Court rulings on the constitutionality of Florida Statutes. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) or (ii). The Court's discretionary review power gives it the ability not to burden itself with review of every constitutional challenge to every statute. The rule also enables the Court to avoid addressing constitutional issues unnecessarily; to wit:

Although this Court acquires jurisdiction by virtue of the district court's ruling that expressly construes a provision of the Florida Constitution, we adhere to the settled principle of constitutional law that courts should endeavor to implement the legislative intent of the statutes and avoid constitutional issues.

State v. Mozo, 655 so. 2d 1115 (Fla. 1995).

- 5 -

The case at bar provides an outstanding example of the kind of litigation the rule was created to avoid. The Petitioner argued that the statute in question was unconstitutionally vague and, in addition, violated the "rule of lenity." When the State responded to the constitutional arguments, the defense criticized the State for discussing constitutional statutory construction and tried to redefine its position under the "rule of lenity," while denying that a constitutional issue was before the district court. (See Appellant's Reply Brief at 2, 3.)

The Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief, again, addresses the "rule of lenity," thus clearly calling into question the issue the defense wants to argue. The "rule of lenity" does not provide a separate ground for discretionary Florida Supreme Court review under Fla. R. App. P. 9.303(a)(2)(A)(I) or (ii).

The Petitioner has failed to allege or show any actual error or infirmity in the First District Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute at issue. The district court carefully construed the statute in terms of "vagueness" and, as suggested by this Court, in terms of obvious legislative intent.

The issue before the district court was whether the statute in question was unconstitutionally vague because of alleged confusion over the meaning of the abbreviation of "a.m." as applied to 12

- 6 -

o'clock. The argument tendered by the Petitioner was that the statute providing for enhanced penalties for pushing drugs near a school could be construed as only applying to drug sales taking place between six in the morning and "noon," but not to any drug sales committed during the lunch period or after school. Thus, according to Petitioner, pushers arrested near the schools during the afternoon were unfairly surprised by the statute. In support of this argument, the Petitioner came up with an obscure federal memorandum from the U.S. Naval Observatory, apparently cited in a New Jersey case, construing "12 a.m." as "noon" rather than "midnight" as commonly understood. There was never any showing that the Petitioner relied upon the United States Naval Observatory when scheduling narcotics transactions.

The State argued, and the District Court concurred, that the constitutional issue was to be resolved according to the standards announced in this Court's decision in **Brown v. State, 629 So. 2d** 

841 (Fla. 1994); to wit:

The standard for testing vagueness under Florida law is whether the statute gives a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct. <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156. . . "The language of the statute must 'provide a definite warning of what conduct is required or prohibited, measured by common understanding or practice.'" <u>Warren v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991) (quoting <u>State v. Bussey</u>, 463 So.2d 1141, 1144

- 7 -

(Fla. 1985)). Because of its imprecision, a vague statute may invite the arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement. <u>Southeastern Fisheries Assn., Inc. v.</u> <u>Department of Natural Resources</u>, 453 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984), at 1353. A statute is not void for vagueness if the language "'conveys sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices.'" <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 741, 747 (Fla.).

The district court applied this standard, noting as well this Court's holding in *State v. Manfredonia, 649 So. 2d 1388, 1390* (*Fla. 1995*), that a statute, even if not "a paradigm of legislative drafting" need not require ideal linguistic precision in order to be valid, as well as the rule that the courts should construe a statute in keeping with the intent of the Legislature. *Young v. St. Vincent's Medical Ctr.. Inc., 653 So. 2d 499, 506 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), review granted, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1995).* 

The District Court thus concluded that the statute, by any reasonable reading, conveyed the warning that illegal drug sales within 1,000 feet of a school during those hours when children might be present were subject to enhanced penalties.

Boiled down to its essence, the real request of the Petitioner is that this Court employ the "rule of lenity" to apply a bizarre or unnatural meaning to statutory terms, and frustrate legislative intent for the benefit of drug dealers who prey on children. It is submitted that in the absence of any logical or cogent challenge to

- 8 -

the well-reasoned decision of the district court, discretionary review should not be granted.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully submits that discretionary review should not be granted.